
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA

CHEYENNE AND ARAPAHO TRIBES, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) Case No.  CIV-15-262-D
)

LESLIE WANDRIE-HARJO,  et al., )
)

Defendants. )

ORDER

Before the Court is Defendant’s Motion and Brief in Support of Adding a Required

Party [Doc. No. 26].  Defendant Leslie Wandrie-Harjo (“Harjo”) seeks an order finding that 

Sally Jewell in her official capacity as Secretary of the Interior must be joined as a necessary

party to the ligation pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a)(2).  Plaintiff has filed an objection, and

the Motion is fully briefed.1

Plaintiff Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes (the “Tribe”)  brings suit to recover tribal2

funds that were deposited into a bank account controlled by Harjo, a former tribal official,

in November 2011.  Initially, the Tribe also sued another former official, Janice Boswell

(“Boswell”), and asserted an interpleader claim against the stakeholder of the funds, Citizens

Bank of Ada.  The Tribe’s current pleading, the First Amended Complaint [Doc. No. 21],

asserts no claim against Boswell, alleges no misconduct on her part, and seeks no relief

  In addition to Harjo’s reply brief, both Harjo and Plaintiff have filed supplemental briefs authorized1

by the Court.

  The Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes constitute a single governmental entity for purposes of federal2

recognition.  See First Am. Compl. [Doc. No. 21], ¶ 3, n.2.
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against her.   Also, upon joint motion of the Tribe and the stakeholder, the subject funds were3

deposited into the registry of the court and a judgment dismissing Citizens Bank of Ada was

entered.  See Judgment [Doc. No. 33].

The First Amended Complaint asserts a claim against Harjo under the Racketeer

Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-68, based on allegations that

she and unnamed others engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity involving mail fraud

and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 and § 1343.  See First Am. Compl. [Doc.

No. 21], ¶¶ 33-38.  Pendent claims of embezzlement and conversion are also asserted.  Harjo

answered the First Amended Complaint and combined with her answer a “Rule 13(h)

Crossclaim and Rule 19 Joinder.”  See Def.’s Answer Pl.’s First Am. Compl. [Doc. No. 25],

p.8.  In support of this claim, Harjo sets forth in numbered paragraphs, almost verbatim, the

same statements presented in support of her present Motion.  Compare id., pp.8-14, and

Def.’s Mot. & Br. Supp. of Adding Required Party [Doc. No. 26], pp.3-9.  As the Court

understands Harjo’s position, the joinder of the Secretary of the Interior is necessary to

remedy alleged violations of the Administrative Procedures Act, 5 U.S.C. § 500 et seq., by

the Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”).

The Court begins its analysis of Harjo’s Motion by noting that Rule 19 provides a

mechanism for deciding questions of compulsory joinder and “is designed to protect the

interests of absent persons as well as those already before the court from multiple litigation

  Boswell answered the Complaint by disclaiming any interest in the funds.  See Disclaimer [Doc.3

No. 9]. 

2

Case 5:15-cv-00262-D   Document 41   Filed 05/18/16   Page 2 of 7



or inconsistent judicial determinations.”  See 7 Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller &

Mary Kay Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure, § 1602 (3d ed. 2001).  The nonjoinder of

a person needed for a just adjudication is raised in defense of an action (id. § 1609; see Fed.

R. Civ. P. 12(b)(7), (h)(2)), either to compel the joinder of a necessary party or to obtain

dismissal of the action due to an opponent’s failure to join an indispensable party.  See Fed.

R. Civ. P. 19(a)(2), (b).   In this case, Harjo is apparently requesting permission to assert her4

own claim against the Secretary; she argues in support of her Motion that she needs to sue

the Secretary in order to obtain injunctive relief from the BIA’s arbitrary and capricious

actions or decisions.  See Def.’s Mot. & Br. Supp. of Adding Required Party [Doc. No. 26],

p.12.   Harjo could have accomplished her desired result by filing an appropriate pleading

and effecting service of process, without seeking permission from Plaintiff or the Court. 

Harjo’s request for prior authorization to join a nonparty on a crossclaim (or a counterclaim

or third-party claim) is unique in this Court’s experience.  Nevertheless, because Plaintiff has

responded to the Motion without any mention of this procedural irregularity, the Court

proceeds to rule on the Motion in the manner in which it is presented.

The basis of Harjo’s Motion is an assertion that the Secretary is a “required party” as

defined by Rule 19(a) because the Secretary is subject to service of process, will not deprive

  Rule 19(b) authorizes dismissal of an action if a necessary person cannot be joined and, upon4

application of the requisite factors, the person is determined to be indispensable.  See Citizen Potawatomi
Nation v. Norton, 248 F.3d 993, 997 (10th Cir. 2001); Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b)(1)-(4); see also N. Arapaho Tribe
v. Harnsberger, 697 F.3d 1272, 1282-84 (10th Cir. 2012).  Harjo does not seek dismissal of the action based
on the nonjoinder of the Secretary, and does not contend the Secretary is indispensable to the resolution of
the parties’ dispute.

3
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the Court of subject matter jurisdiction, and “in [the Secretary’s] absence, the court cannot

accord complete relief among the existing parties.”  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a)(1)(A).  The

Tribe disagrees that the Secretary must be present to grant complete relief between the

parties, and argues that the Secretary is not a “required party” because no interest of the

United States will be impaired by the Secretary’s absence.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a)(1)(B). 

In reply, Harjo asserts that the Secretary must be also joined because the United States has

two interests at stake in this litigation, namely, a fiduciary duty to tribal members and the

Secretary’s potential liability for alleged arbitrary and capricious actions of the BIA.  See

Reply Br. [Doc. No. 29], pp.2-3.  Further, in a supplemental brief, Harjo contends the

necessity of the Secretary’s joinder is demonstrated by the fact that the Tribe has previously

filed a separate action in the United States Court of Federal Claims regarding the BIA’s

transfer of the same funds at issue in this case.  See Cheyenne & Arapaho Tribes v. United

States, Case No. 12-357L, Compl. (Fed. Cl. June 5, 2012).5

The crux of Harjo’s argument appears in her reply brief, and is repeated in her

supplemental brief, as follows:

Defendant has been accused of wrongfully obtaining tribal funds.  This is
factually incorrect as she sent a tribal ordinance to the Bureau of Indian Affairs
(“BIA”), which itself transmitted the funds at issue into the bank account.
Defendant must join the Secretary in a crossclaim in order to demonstrate that
her own actions as Governor of the Tribes were not unlawful and the funds

  The Federal Claims case was stayed in February 2015 to permit Plaintiff to pursue other remedies,5

namely, this suit against Harjo and Citizens Bank of Ada.  See Cheyenne & Arapaho Tribes v. United States,
Case No. 12-357L, Joint Status Report (Fed. Cl. Aug. 10, 2015).  The case remains stayed, subject to a 180-
day reporting requirement for the parties to inform the court regarding progress in this litigation.  See id.
Order of Feb. 9, 2015.

4
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were not wrongfully obtained, but rather the BIA, which actually transferred
the funds at issue, acted arbitrarily and capriciously by failing to follow and
enforce the decisions of the duly constituted Arrow Court, thereby allowing
the Tribes to fall into a governance dispute, and by transmitting tribal funds
without recognizing the proper tribal leadership.  This is an unresolved issue,
the resolution of which requires that the Secretary be joined as a party to this
litigation.

Reply Br. [Doc. No. 29], p.5 (emphasis omitted); Def.’s Suppl. Br. [Doc. No. 38], p.2.  Harjo

proposes to “join the Secretary and order her and the BIA to follow the Tribes’ Constitution

as interpreted by the duly constituted Cheyenne & Arapaho Supreme Court, the Arrow

Court.”  See Reply Br. [Doc. No. 29], p.5 (emphasis in original).  The term “Arrow Court”

arises from an internal tribal dispute regarding the composition of the Supreme Court of the

Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes, and refers to a panel led by Associate Justice Dennis W.

Arrow.

Although Harjo’s arguments refer to various allegedly arbitrary and capricious actions

or inactions by the BIA,  the underlying premise of all these arguments is a complaint that6

the BIA failed to recognize or enforce judicial decisions of a particular tribal court regarding

leadership and control of the tribal government.   The sole basis identified by Harjo for7

joining the Secretary in this dispute is an action for judicial review of a final agency decision

under the Administrative Procedures Act.  Specifically, Harjo identifies a final agency

  Harjo also complains that the Secretary “provid[ed] federal funding to a government not recognized6

by the decisions of the Tribes’ constitutionally created Supreme Court” (Motion, p.3) and “disburs[ed] funds
to Indian tribes without first recognizing the proper tribal leadership” (Motion, p.12).

  Harjo contends the Secretary should be “force[d] . . . to recognize the tribal leadership decisions7

already decided by the Tribes’ duly constituted Supreme Court, the Arrow Court.”  See Reply Br., p.2
(emphasis omitted).

5
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decision by the Interior Board of Indian Appeals (“IBIA”) vacating a decision of the BIA’s

Southern Plains Regional Director regarding the composition of the tribal courts (among

other things) as a basis for judicial review pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 702.  See Def.’s Suppl. Br.

[Doc. No. 38], pp.1,4-5.

Harjo does not explain, however, how the Secretary’s presence or absence from this

case will impact her defense of the Tribe’s action against her.  Harjo identifies a potential

claim against the Secretary as a basis for an injunction that will somehow aid Harjo’s cause. 

However, this case concerns events occurring in 2011, an intra-tribal dispute extending

through 2013, and administrative appeals that were decided in 2014.  At the time of the IBIA

decisions, most of the appeals were determined to be moot because the elected terms of Harjo

and Boswell had expired and neither asserted any further claim to office.  See Bighorse v. S.

Plains Reg’l Dir., 59 I.B.I.A. 1, 12 (July 10, 2014), available at 2014 WL 3543912.  The one

appeal determined not to be moot concerned a tribal court composition decision made in

March 2011 by a BIA superintendent who determined that the agency would recognize the

Arrow Court as the Tribe’s supreme court, and the Regional Director’s affirmance of the

decision in September 2011.  See 59 I.B.I.A. at 14.  The IBIA vacated the court composition

decision, in part, because federal recognition of a particular panel as the supreme court of the

Tribe appeared to legitimize the judicial decisions of that panel and constituted an

impermissible intervention in a tribal governmental dispute.  See id. at 16.

In this case, the Court understands that Harjo wishes to bolster her claim to be acting

as the governor of the Tribe in November 2011 when she requested a transfer of the funds

6
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at issue, by attempting to legitimize a particular tribal court and judicial rulings in her favor. 

However, Harjo does not articulate any reason why the Secretary must be present as a party

in this action for Harjo to make her claim or why an injunction issued against the Secretary

is necessary to support it.  In short, Harjo fails to demonstrate that the Secretary’s absence

from the case will prevent the Court from granting full relief to any party.  Harjo also fails

to show that the resolution of the Tribe’s claims in the absence of the Secretary will impact

an interest of the United States in a manner contemplated by Rule 19(a).   As pointed out by8

Harjo, the Secretary is already involved in litigation with the Tribe concerning the  funds at

issue, and has not moved to intervene or otherwise be heard in this case.

For these reasons, the Court finds that Harjo has failed to establish that the Secretary

of the Interior is a necessary person who must be joined as a party to this case.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant’s Motion in Support of Adding a

Required Party [Doc. No. 26] is DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED this 18  day of May, 2016.th

 

  Rule 19(a)(1)(B) defines a necessary party as a person who “claims an interest relating to the8

subject of the action and is so situated that disposing of the action in the person’s absence may:  (i) as a
practical matter impair or impede the person’s ability to protect the interest; or (ii) leave an existing party
subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations because of
the interest.”  Harjo neither acknowledges nor attempts to satisfy these criteria. 

7
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